
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

October 1, 2025       2:00 p.m. 
MHSC Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 

 
AGENDA 

 

 

Mission: Compassionate Care For Every Life We Touch 

Vision: To be our community’s trusted healthcare leader. 

I. Call to Order  Kandi Pendleton 

 A.  Roll Call  

B. Pledge of Allegiance   

C. Mission and Vision Kandi Pendleton 

D. Mission Moment Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer 

II. Approval of Agenda (For Action)  Kandi Pendleton 

III. Community Communication  Kandi Pendleton 

 A.  The Governance Institute Leadership Conference Report Dr. Jacques Denker 

IV. Consent Agenda (For Action) Kandi Pendleton 
Requests for Consent Agenda items to be removed to New Business 

A. Approval of Meeting Minutes 

B. Approval of Capital Expenditure Request 

C. Approval of Bad Debt 

D. Senior Leader and Board Committee Reports 

1. Senior Leader Written Reports 

a. Chief Clinical Officer Kari Quickenden 

b. Chief Experience Officer Cindy Nelson 

c. Chief Financial Officer Tami Love 

d. Chief Nursing Officer Ann Marie Clevenger 

2. Board Committee Written or Verbal Reports 

a. Human Resources Committee Nena James 

b. Finance and Audit Committee Craig Rood 

c. Foundation Board Report Craig Rood 

d. Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee             Kandi Pendleton 

e. Joint Conference Committee                       Nena James 

f. Building and Grounds Committee                      Marty Kelsey 

g. Compliance Committee                 Kandi Pendleton 

h. Governance Committee                 Kandi Pendleton 

i. Quality Committee             Nena James 

E. Credentials Committee Requests (For Action) Kerry Downs, Medical Staff Services Director 

1. Cardiovascular Medicine Privilege Form 

V. Old Business Kandi Pendleton 

1. Firearms and Weapons Policy (Under Development) Geoff Phillips, Legal Counsel 

VI. New Business (For Review and Questions/Comments) Kandi Pendleton 

A. 2025-2026 Memorandum of Understanding Between Geoff Phillips 
The Sweetwater County Commissioners and The Memorial Hospital 
of Sweetwater County (For Action)  

  

1/102



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

October 1, 2025       2:00 p.m. 
MHSC Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 

 
AGENDA 

 

 

Mission: Compassionate Care For Every Life We Touch 

Vision: To be our community’s trusted healthcare leader. 

VII. Reports 

A. Chief Executive Officer and Guests Verbal Reports 

1. Chief Executive Officer Report  Irene Richardson 

2. Chief of Staff Report  Dr. Israel Stewart, Chief of Staff 

3. County Commissioner Liaison Report  Taylor Jones, County Commissioner 

VIII. Education 

 A.  VMG Health (formerly Veralon) Mission & Strategy - ”The Rural Health Landscape-Advocacy”  

IX. Good of the Order Kandi Pendleton 

X. Executive Session (W.S. §16-4-405(a)(ix))       Kandi Pendleton 

XI. Action Following Executive Session Kandi Pendleton 

XII. Adjourn Kandi Pendleton 

2/102



3/102



 

MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

September 11, 2025 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met in regular session on 

September 11, 2025, at 2:00 p.m. in the Sweetwater County Commissioner Meeting Room in 

Green River, Wyoming, with Ms. Kandi Pendleton, President, presiding. 

CALL TO ORDER 

Ms. Pendleton welcomed everyone and called the meeting to order.  

Ms. Pendleton requested a roll call and announced there was a quorum. The following Trustees 

were present: Judge Nena James, Mr. Marty Kelsey, Mr. Neil Malicoat, Ms. Kandi Pendleton, and 

Mr. Craig Rood. 

 

Officially present during the meeting: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer; Dr. Israel 

Stewart, Chief of Medical Staff; Mr. Geoff Phillips, Legal Counsel; and Mr. Taylor Jones, 

Sweetwater County Commission Liaison. 

Trustee Appointment & Oath of Office 

Mr. Phillips administered the Oath of Office to Mr. Malicoat. Ms. Pendleton welcomed Mr. 

Malicoat and asked for introductions from everyone in attendance.  

Pledge of Allegiance 

Ms. Pendleton led the attendees in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Mission and Vision 

Mr. Kelsey read aloud the mission and vision statements. 

Mission Moment 

Ms. Richardson shared a recent Google review regarding an excellent patient experience.  

AGENDA 

Ms. Pendleton said an updated agenda is presented clarifying the items in the consent agenda. Ms. 

Pendleton asked for requests for any items to be moved from the Consent Agenda to New Business. 

There was a request to move the Hospital Insurance Policy to New Business. Ms. Pendleton asked 

if there were requests for Senior Leader or Board Committee Reports to be moved to New 

Business. There was a request for the Chief Financial Officer Report to be moved to New Business. 

The motion to approve the agenda with the items noted as moved as requested was made by Judge 

James;  second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried.  

COMMUNITY COMMUNICATION 

Ms. Deb Sutton, Marketing Director, invited everyone to attend an open house at the Sweetwater 

County Library in Green River later that evening.   

 

4/102



 

 

Minutes of the September 11, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 2 of 5 

 

ECONOMIC IMPACT STUDY PRESENTATION 

Ms. Richardson said the Finance & Audit Committee had discussed conducting an economic 

impact study. She recently heard at the Wyoming Hospital Association and The Governance 

Institute how hospitals must tell their own stories. Ms. Richardson said our economic impact is 

huge. Mr. Kelsey suggested we reach out and request a study so we did and she said it was great 

working with the University of Wyoming. She introduced Mr. Alexander Specht, Associate 

Director and Research Economist for the University of Wyoming Center for Business and 

Economic Analysis, and he reviewed the study. Mr. Specht said the project was completed in June 

2025 and reviews the economic impact for 2024. He said the Hospital has a significant impact on 

the economy in Sweetwater County and referenced non-financial impacts in addition to the 

significant financial impacts. Mr. Rood asked for a copy of the PowerPoint. Ms. Richardson will 

request to present the report to the County Commissioners in the near future.  

OLD BUSINESS 

Quarterly Progress Report on Strategic Plans and Goals 

Ms. Richardson presented strategic plan updates for each of the pillars. She highlighted the good 

things happening within each strategic pillar. Ms. Richardson thanked staff for the good work 

being done.  

 

Firearms and Weapons Policy 

 

The information is still under development. Mr. Phillips will take updated information to the 

Governance Committee.     

 

Patient Safety 

 

Ms. Stephanie Mlinar, Quality Director, said occurrence reporting information will come before 

the Board at a future meeting. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

The motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by 

Judge James. Motion carried. Items approved: Meeting Minutes; Bad Debt; Siemens Executive 

Agreement, Performance Improvement and Patient Safety (PIPS) Plan, Critical Access Hospital 

Exposure Control Plan, Credentials Confidentiality of Medical Staff Records/Access to Files 

Policy and Advance Practice Provider Hematology/Oncology Privilege Form; 16 CAH Policies as 

listed on the agenda.   

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Quality Committee Charter 

 

The motion to approve the updated Quality Committee Charter was made by Judge James; second 

by Mr. Rood. Motion carried.   

 

  

5/102



 

 

Minutes of the September 11, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 3 of 5 

 

Hospital Insurance Policy 

 

Mr. Kelsey thanked Mr. Phillips and Ms. Suzan Campbell, In-House Counsel, for their work on 

the policy. He said most organizations don’t have this policy and he thinks it is a great thing. The 

motion to approve the policy as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. Rood. Motion 

carried.  

 

Chief Financial Officer Report 

 

Mr. Kelsey said he wanted to bring forward some key metrics in comparison to one year ago and 

said there have been significant improvements. Ms. Pendleton thanked Mr. Kelsey for pulling 

those out. 

 

REPORTS 

 

Chief Executive Officer Report 

 

Ms. Richardson said we continue to introduce our person-centered care culture to everyone joining 

us. We had a very successful audit. The interim replacement for Mr. Ron Cheese started September 

8. We continue interviewing Community Health Needs Assessment vendors and hope to bring an 

agreement to the Board soon. Peak Consulting will be onsite September 15 and 16 to kick off the 

job description update and performance evaluation review project. Ms. Richardson said the 

Wyoming Hospital Association annual meeting was wonderful. She reviewed some highlights. 

She said Dr. Ann Marie Clevenger, Chief Nursing Officer, received the Norman S. Holt award for 

nursing excellence. The Hospital was recognized for 80 years of WHA membership. Ms. 

Richardson said The Governance Institute Leadership Conference followed. She thanked the 

Board for being willing to move the September meeting to allow trustees and leaders to participate 

in the WHA and TGI opportunities. She referenced the importance of the three legs of the stool to 

lead: board leadership, hospital leadership, medical staff leadership. She commended the Board 

for their commitment to the Hospital and said being aligned makes all the difference. Ms. 

Richardson said our successes are tied to the Board. She thanked the County Commissioners for 

appointing good board members. She said it is good to collaborate and learn, then come back to 

celebrate and acknowledge the good things we are doing. Ms. Richardson reviewed rural health 

transformation funding and said feedback is being solicited. She said she will send out meeting 

information to the Board and staff. She said she feels it is important for us to participate fully in 

the process. Ms. Richardson is in her second year as Chair of the Wyoming Hospital Association 

Board. Ms. Richardson said things have been very busy at the Hospital and thanked everyone for 

all the work they do. 

 

Medical Staff Services Chief of Staff Report 

 

Dr. Stewart reviewed highlights from the medical staff committee meetings. Ms. Pendleton 

thanked Dr. Stewart for the good information.   

 

County Commissioner Liaison Report 

 

Commissioner Jones said there were impressive results shared in the meeting and thanked 

everyone for everything they are doing.   

 

6/102



 

 

Minutes of the September 11, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 4 of 5 

 

CONTRACTS 

 

Onpoint Healthcare Solutions, Inc. 

 

Ms. Campbell noted we added the government immunity language in the agreement. The motion 

to approve the agreement as presented was made by Mr. Rood; second by Judge James. Motion 

carried. 

 

Press Ganey Workforce Statement of Work 

 

The item was presented for information only. There were no comments.  

 

EDUCATION 

 

VMG health Mission & Strategy – “The Rural Health Landscape – Advocacy” 

 

Ms. Pendleton suggested moving the topic to the October education assignment. 

 

GOOD OF ORDER 

 

Ms. Pendleton thanked everyone who attended the TGI event. She said there was a lot of focus on 

Artificial Intelligence (AI) and said there was good information on not replacing people but putting 

people with the process.  

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

The motion to go into executive session at 3:13 p.m. to discuss litigation and personnel items 

considered confidential by law was made by Judge James; second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried.  

 

RECONVENE INTO REGULAR SESSION 

 

The motion to leave the executive session and return to the regular session at 4:42 p.m. was made 

by Judge James; second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried.  

 

ACTION FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Pursuant to the notice provided in the agenda, the Board of Trustees held discussions and action 

was taken.  

 

The motion to grant clinical privileges and appointments to the medical staff as discussed in 

executive session was made by Judge James; second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried. 

 

Credentials Committee Recommendations to the Board of Trustees for Granting Clinical 

Privileges and Granting Appointment to the Medical Staff from August 12, 2025 

 

1. Initial Appointment to Locum Tenens Staff (1 year) 

Dr. William Chad Burton, Hospitalist 

 

2. Initial Appointment to Consulting Staff (1 year) 

7/102



 

 

Minutes of the September 11, 2025, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 5 of 5 

 

Dr. Talmage Shill, Tele-Radiology (U of U)  

Dr. Mckenna Coletti, Tele-Stroke (U of U) 

Dr. Eric Hoyer, Tele-Radiology (VRC)  

Dr. Avez Rizvi, Tele-Radiology (VRC)  

3. Reappointment to Active Staff (3 year) 

Dr. Arion Lochner, Emergency Medicine 

Dr. Daniel Stone, Emergency Medicine 

Dr. Anisha Tailor, Emergency Medicine 

4. Reappointment to Locum Tenens Staff (1 year) 

Dr. Brad Cohen, Radiation Oncology 

5. Reappointment to Consulting Staff (3 year) 

Dr. Maryellen Gilfeather, Tele-Radiology (VRC)  

Dr. Alan Pratt, Tele-Radiology (VRC)  

Dr. Karen Simmons, Tele-Radiology (VRC) 

Dr. Albert Ybasco, Tele-Radiology (VRC) 

Dr. Aisha Ahmed, Tele-Psychiatry (QLER) 

Dr. James Lamousin, Tele-Psychiatry (QLER 

Dr. Jeffrey Liubicich, Tele-Psychiatry (QLER) 

Dr. Dwayne Narayan, Tele-Psychiatry (QLER) 

Dr. Dustin Plowman, Tele-Psychiatry (QLER) 

Dr. Taniya Pradhan, Tele-Psychiatry (QLER) 

Dr. Brian Quigley, Tele-Psychiatry (QLER) 

Dr. Gregory Renck, Tele-Psychiatry (QLER) 

Dr. Michelle Schofield, Tele-Psychiatry (QLER) 

Dr. Andrew Smith, Tele-Psychiatry (QLER) 

Dr. Ernest Spiotto, Tele-Psychiatry (QLER) 

Dr. Susan Waterman, Tele-Psychiatry (QLER)  

 

The motion to approve contracts and authorize the CEO to sign as discussed in executive session 

was made by Judge James; second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried. 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 4:43 p.m.  

 

 

  

  __________________________________ 

  Ms. Kandi Pendleton, President 

 

Attest: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Judge Nena James, Secretary 

8/102



9/102



10/102



11/102



12/102



13/102



MHSC Board of Trustees: October 2025 

Chief Experience Officer (CXO) Report 

Report prepared and submitted by Cindy Nelson, SHRM-SCP, FPCC 

Patient Experience  

We continue working on a compassionate care hospital-wide initiative. This quarter, we have been focusing 

on Personalized Care. Personalized care means finding out what matters to our patients and getting to know 

them. We want to have a personalized approach that tailors medical treatment, care plans, and more to the 

individual characteristics, needs, preferences, and values of each of our patients. 

We have finalized the Likelihood to Recommend data to communicate hospital-wide to clearly state the starting 

data, goals data, and end date timing for the FY26 Success Sharing Goal. 

 

The primary HCAHPS (Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems) question 

regarding patient loyalty is: "How likely are you to recommend this hospital to your friends and family?" This 

question is a core component of the patient experience survey, used to gauge patient satisfaction and provide 

standardized data on a hospital's quality of care to the public and regulatory bodies like the Centers for 

Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). We look forward to the opportunity to focus on this measure for the 

current fiscal year.  

Human Resources and Employee Experience  

The Human Resources Department reviewed the Symplr Performance Manager Overview at the September 

Human Resources Committee meeting. PEAK Consulting was onsite to begin the job description review and 

performance review update project. They conducted interviews and will return in late October to begin 

overview training sessions. We are reviewing mentoring programs to determine the best path forward for 

MHSC staff  

 

Nutrition Services 

Nutrition Services Leadership continues daily patient rounding. The associates are training in fire prevention, 

food allergy basics, managing food safety, and culture of belonging. They are working with staff to offer Rock 

Springs High School and Green River High School football team dinners as well as prepare for the October 23 

MHSC Fall Festival event.  

 

Board Experience 

 

I had the opportunity to participate in the Wyoming Hospital Association Annual Meeting, The Governance 

Institute Leadership Conference, and the Wyoming Society of Human Resources Management (SHRM) 

Wyoming Conference in September. The events offered valuable information regarding Trustee Experience, 

Patient Experience, Employee Experience, and employment law. I am developing a Leadership Brown Bag 

Lunch and Learn to share the information obtained for anyone interested.  

14/102



MHSC Board of Trustees: October 2025 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Report 

Report prepared and submitted by:  Tami Love 
 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY.  Revenue was like July, coming in at $26.4 million, over budget by $1.4 
million.   Net revenue remains over budget due to the decrease in reductions from Critical Access 
collections.  Expenses were lower in August, coming in at $11.3 million, under budget year-to-date 
by $500,000.  Our bottom line for August was a gain of $1.8 million, bringing our year-to-date gain to 
$3.3 million after two months of the fiscal year.  Collections came in close to $12.6 million for 
August positively impacting Days Cash on Hand by 8 days. For September, revenue is projected to 
be lower at $25 million, but still over the budget of $24 million.  Reduction of revenue will be low 
again with higher Medicare payments, and expenses should be on budget, resulting in another 
significant gain for September.   

CRITICAL ACCESS.  Days in AR and Days Cash on Hand continue to reflect the move to Critical 
Access.  We will be filing our first cost report as a CAH by the end of September and do expect an 
increase in our cost-to-charge ratio which will increase Medicare collections.  We are still waiting 
for the State survey and continue to operate under a provisional license.   

FY25 FINANCIAL AUDIT AND COST REPORT.  We are holding the audit open as we wait for final 
numbers for the QRA program and first CAH cost report settlement.  While we do accrue for these 
numbers throughout the year, we want to validate the cost report settlement.  The final audit will be 
presented at the October Finance meeting and the November Board meeting. 

ORACLE ROADMAP.  Our Account Executive from Oracle (formerly Cerner) was onsite last week to 
share Oracle’s roadmap, discuss short-and long-term goals, strategies and initiatives the hospital 
is focusing on.  He was able to meet with several groups including the C-suite, Revenue Cycle team, 
Information Technology and Clinical teams.  The focus is to bring AI-empowered solutions across 
both clinical and revenue cycle spaces.  These new products will enhance analysis reporting, 
patient experience, provider satisfaction and staff productivity. Oracle will be conducting 
demonstrations of their new products over the next several months and into the new year, with 
some being free add-ons and others with additional costs. 

MASTER PLAN UPDATE.  PlanOne Architects met with our team to walk through the Master Plan 
Phase I projects.  This allowed us all to get a better idea of what is coming over the next fiscal year 
and for the team to understand the domino effect of each project.   

 The OB Renovation project has been submitted to the State for plan review and will be going 
out for bid in the next few weeks.   

 We are working with Staples furniture division to prepare for furniture and equipment that 
will be needed for the new Laboratory expansion.   

 The final SLIB grant request for the Laboratory project was submitted.  We will now start 
requesting the matching funds from the County and the Foundation. 

15/102



 

MHSC Board of Trustees: 10/2025 

Chief Nursing Officer (CNO) Report 

Report prepared and submitted by: Ann Marie Clevenger DNP, RN, NEA-BC 

1. Nursing Leadership 

a. We currently do not have a Director of Nursing for Acute Care Services covering 

MS, ICU, and Outpatient Infusion. We do, however, have Shayla McGregor and 

Kelsey Pearson as CCs to help cover. We are currently seeking an interim director 

while we post for the permanent position.  

b. Congratulations 

a. Congratulations to the following Wyoming Nurses Association Award 

Winners 

i. Megan Tozzi and Tiffany Uranker for the “Collaborative Practice 

Award Winners 

ii. Andrea Meyers for receiving the “Face of Our Future Nurses” 

Award. 

b. Congratulations to the following Wyoming Nurses Association Award 

Nominees 

i. Megan Gilbert received a nomination for the Wyoming Nurses 

Association for the “Nursing Excellence in the Workplace” Award. 

2. University of Utah Transfer Update 

a. Aaron Smith from the University of Utah informed me that when calling the transfer 

center to transfer patients to the University, if their hospital is at critical capacity and 

unable to accept patients, they may recommend you to an affiliated hospital 

(Common Spirit) such as Holy Cross, which is staffed by the University of Utah 

Providers. Aaron stated this is only a recommendation and not a requirement. This is 

to ensure patients receive the best possible care when a transfer to a higher level of 

care is necessary, but the beds are unavailable at the University of Utah. Aaron 

shared that within the University of Utah itself, they are also transferring to these 

hospitals when beds are unavailable at the University. Aaron stated that he will 

provide additional information, criteria, or updates as they are presented to him.  

3. Nurse Practice Review Committee (NPRC) 

a. The committee is progressing with finalization of the forms, process, and procedures.  

b. Initial cases have been identified for review. 

c. Thank you to Stephanie Milinar and Patty O’Lexey for facilitating this important 

committee. 

Please let me know if you have any additional insight that may be helpful in this report. Thank you for 

your continued support of the MHSC teams. Ann 

16/102



 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Human Resources Committee Meeting Minutes - Draft 
Monday – September 15, 2025 
Zoom 
 
Trustee Members Present by Zoom: Nena James; Neil Malicoat 
Voting Members Present by Zoom: Amber Fisk, Irene Richardson, Suzan Campbell, Cindy Nelson 
Non-Voting Members & Guests Present by Zoom: Tami Love, Kari Quickenden,   Shawn Bazzanella, 
Ruthann Wolfe, Eddie Boggs  
 
 
Judge James called the meeting to order and welcomed everyone. Ms. Richardson introduced Mr. 
Malicoat.  
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
The motion to approve the agenda as presented was made by Ms. Fisk; second by Ms. Nelson. Motion 
carried.  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

The motion to approve the June 16, 2025 meeting minutes as corrected was made by Ms. Nelson; 
second by Mr. Malicoat. Motion carried.    
 
ROUTINE REPORTS 
 

Turnover 
 

Ms. Fisk reviewed the data included in the meeting packet. She said our turnover rate continues to stay 
below the national average.   
 
Open Positions  
 
Ms. Fisk reviewed the open positions report. The group discussed why we sometimes may pull a posting 
back and then re-post at a later date based on our needs.   
 
Contract Staffing 
 
Ms. Fisk reviewed the contract staffing report and said we continue to work to decrease contract staff. 
Unfortunately, we continue to experience the nationwide difficulty in recruiting in Medical Imaging 
which results in continuing to utilize contract staff. We are exploring creative ideas to “grow our own” or 
offer training opportunities to help recruit to our hospital.  
 
OSHA Log – WPV Statistics 
 
Ms. Fisk reviewed options to break down report information. The group discussed degrees of 
seriousness and incidents resulting in injury. Ms. Fisk said she has not designated a severity rating 
previously. She said she will investigate options. Dr. Clevenger said utilizing the WPV Workgroup may 
help with identifying severity and trending. Judge James said the information could also be helpful with 
education and training needs. The group meets quarterly. We will develop a plan to track severity 
moving forward as well as look back historically to capture and assign severity.   
 
  

17/102



 

Minutes of the September 15, 2025 Human Resources Committee 
Page 2 

OLD BUSINESS 
 
No items for discussion.  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
Performance Manager 
 
Ms. Campbell reminded the group that Compliance is working on this process, too, and requested to be 
included on any demos with the Performance Manager system. Ms. Fisk said we have hired a consultant 
to help us with our PIPS priority of reviewing job descriptions and the performance evaluation process. 
She Said there are three components to the Symplr program: hiring, performance, education. They were 
implemented in 2019 and are tied together.  
 
Judge James congratulated Dr. Clevenger on her award from the Wyoming Hospital Association.  
 
 
NEXT MEETING 
 
The next meeting is Monday, December 15 at 3:00 p.m.  
 
The meeting adjourned at 3:51 p.m. 
 

 

 

 

  

18/102



19/102



20/102



21/102



22/102



23/102



24/102



25/102



26/102



27/102



28/102



29/102



30/102



31/102



32/102



33/102



34/102



35/102



36/102



37/102



38/102



39/102



40/102



41/102



42/102



43/102



44/102



45/102



46/102



47/102



48/102



49/102



50/102



51/102



52/102



53/102



54/102



55/102



56/102



57/102



58/102



59/102



60/102



61/102



62/102



63/102



64/102



65/102



66/102



67/102



68/102



69/102



70/102



71/102



72/102



73/102



 

MHSC Board of Trustees Report 
October Meeting 2025  

Business 
 Working with Tami Love and Gerry Johnston on furnishing needs/ progress for the 

new building; It looks amazing! We hope you can attend the tour on October 3rd!  

 Irene, Craig, Kayla and other Leaders of MHSC attended the Wyoming Hospital 

Association Annual Conference in Laramie. Kayla took time away from the 

conference to meet with other Foundation Directors from across Wyoming.   
 Hillary Lyons Associates will be working closely with Kayla to achieve an exceptional 

and sustainable strategic plan for the Foundation Board. Please join us for our 

Retreat Day on November 6th! More information to come.  

 

Grants/ Community Donations 

 $50,000 donation Approved from Wyoming Community Foundation 

 $10,000 Grant Received from Wyoming Cancer Program for a Survivorship Wellness 
project  

 $6,000 ACS Received for transportation assistance  

 $4,800 Grant Received in support for Cancer Survivors during “survivorship night.” 

 $10,000 Grant Approved for Breast Boutique for Breast Cancer patients  

Upcoming Events 

Foundation Board Retreat/ Strategic Plan- November 6th  

Red Tie Gala- February 7, 2026 
 
Report Submitted By: Kayla Mannikko 
 

74/102



Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 

September 16, 2025 

 

The Building and Grounds Committee met in regular session via Zoom on September 16, 2025 

at 2:30 PM with Mr. Marty Kelsey presiding. 

 

Voting Members Present:  Mr. Marty Kelsey, Trustee – Chairman 
     Ms. Craig Rood, Trustee 
     Ms. Irene Richardson, CEO  
     Ms. Tami Love, CFO  
    
Voting Members Absent:  Mr. Gerry Johnston, Director of Facilities 

Non-Voting Members Present: Mr. Steven Skorcz, Facilities Supervisor 

Non-Voting Members Absent: Ms. Stevie Kennedy, Safety Coordinator 
 
Guests:    Mr. Wayne Kitchen, Groathouse Construction 
     Mr. Will Plummer, Groathouse Construction 

Ms. Michele Schmidt, PlanOne Architects   

 

Mr. Kelsey called the meeting to order. 

 

Ms. Richardson shared a mission moment. 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked for a motion to approve the agenda. Mr. Rood made a motion to approve the 

agenda. Ms. Love seconded; motion passed.  

 

Mr. Kelsey asked for a motion to approve the minutes of the August 19,2025 meeting. This 

agenda item was tabled as there was not a quorum of attendees from the meeting to approve the 

minutes.  

 

Maintenance Metrics 

 

Mr. Johnston was excused from the meeting, and no metrics were presented.  

 

Old Business – Project Review 

 

Medical Imaging Core and X-ray 

 

75/102



Mr. Skorcz said we received approval of occupancy from the State on September 8, and patients 

are being seen in the new area with the new equipment.  They have removed barriers for the next 

phase of completing asbestos mitigation and new flooring in the remaining hallways.  Mr. Kelsey 

asked what the schedule is to be completed.  Mr. Kitchen said the project is scheduled to be 

completed by December 15.  The remaining work will need to be done during non-busy hours so 

as not to disrupt patient care.  Mr. Kelsey asked about the doors and lighting that had been 

delayed.  Mr. Skorcz said all material has been received and installed for the Imaging project.  

He said they are still waiting on door hinges for the MOB project.  Mr. Plummer said those items 

will be delivered next week.  

 

Laboratory Expansion project - SLIB 

 

Mr. Plummer said the walls have been blocked off for tie into the existing lab and hospital areas.  

Inside, the drywall is being completed, and they are getting ready to close up the building with 

window installation.  Mr. Kelsey asked when the committee could tour the new area.  Mr. 

Kitchen asked if we schedule a Friday, when there is less activity.  Ms. Love said she will 

coordinate with Mr. Johnston, Groathouse and the Committee to get a tour scheduled.  

 

MOB Entrance – SLIB 

 

Mr. Skorcz said they have been delayed for the door hinges.  Once those are here and installed, 

the flooring will be completed, barriers pulled, and they will be ready to close down the front 

entrance to start on the new entryway.  Mr. Kelsey asked how patients are responding to the 

construction.  Ms. Love said there has been some confusion with the construction and it will 

probably get worse once the whole entrance is shut down.  We are planning to get the 

information out on social media, increase signage and have staff available to assist patients as 

they arrive for appointments. 

 

OB Bathroom 

 

Ms. Schmidt reported the plans have been submitted to the State for preliminary review and they 

have had some updates through the review.  Once we hear back from the State, the project will 

be ready to go to bid. The OB triage area will be added as an alternative bid option. 

 

Foundation Area Renovation 

 

Ms. Schmidt said PlanOne met with Ms. Love, Mr. Johnston and Mr. Skorcz to review the 

Master Plan Phase I and look at their programming and timelines.  We did a walkthrough of the 

Foundation area with the PFS staff to get ideas for their needs. There was also discussion on the 

laundry project and the need to get the engineers involved.  

76/102



  

Master Plan 

 

Ms. Richardson reviewed the first phase of the Maste Plan and the priorities for County funds for 

fiscal year 2026.  She asked what the timeline would be for getting the U of U space updated 

after they moved out.  Mr. Skorcz said he will contact Vaughn’s to get an idea of what work will 

need to be done.  This work will also need to be done after hours and weekends to limit 

disruption.  We will add all the phase I projects to the agenda to keep track of progress, including 

PFS relocation, central scheduling and laundry projects.  

 

New Business 

 

No new business was discussed. 

 

The next meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, October 21, 2025. 

 

Mr. Kelsey adjourned the meeting at 2:54 pm. 

 

 

Submitted by Tami Love 

77/102



Quarterly Executive Update on MHSC Strategic Plan and Goals – MHSC Board Quality Committee – September 2025 

 

Patient Experience Pillar: Last data update 9/10/2025 
 

Objective/Initiative 
 

 
Dept. 

 
Baseline 
FY 2024  

 
Aim % 
(+2%) 

 
Stretch % 

(+3%) 

 
FY 2025 

Outcome & 
New Baseline 

 
Target Goal 

(2% increase) 

 
Stretch Goal 

(3% increase) 

 

FY 2026 YTD 
 

Care Transition/Care 
Coordination (HCAHPS)* 
--CY 2025 is only reflecting Care 

Coordination.   
The Care Transition domain has been 
discontinued. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Inpatient [MS, 
ICU, OB] 

 
 

 
 

NA 

 
 

NA 

 
 

NA 

MS: 75.17% 
ICU: 68.18%  
OB: 82.42%  

Overall: 
74.75%   

 MS: 77.17%  
ICU:70.18%  
OB: 84.42%  

Overall: 76.75%   

 MS: 78.17%  
ICU: 71.18%  
OB: 85.42%  

Overall: 77.75%   

MS: 71.43% 
ICU: 100%   
OB: 100%  

Overall: 85.71%  

 
Discharge information 
(HCAHPS)* 

  
  

88.66%  

  
  

90.66%  

  
  

91.66%  

 MS: 89.29%  
ICU: 91.67%  
OB: 95.24%  

Overall: 90.71%  

 MS: 91.29%  
ICU: 93.67%  
OB: 97.24%  

Overall: 92.71%  

MS: 92.29% 
ICU: 94.67%  
OB: 98.24%  

Overall: 93.71%  

MS: 92.86%  
ICU: 100%  
OB: 100%  

Overall: 96.15% 

 
Hospital Environment: 
Cleanliness sub measurement  

  
  

73.52%  

  
   

75.52%  

  
  

76.52%  

 MS: 69.38%  
ICU: 75.56%  
OB: 78.26%  

Overall: 71.49%  

 MS: 71.38%  
ICU: 77.56%  
OB: 80.26%  

Overall: 73.49%  

 MS: 72.38%  
ICU: 78.56%  
OB: 81.26%   

Overall: 74.49%   

MS: 85.71%  
ICU: 75.00%  
OB: 66.67%  

Overall: 78.57% 

 
Hospital Environment: 
Quietness sub measurement   

  
  

64.31%  

  
  

66.31%  

  
  

67.31%  

MS: 56.41% 
ICU: 57.14%  
OB: 72.73%  

Overall: 58.18%  

 MS: 58.41%  
ICU: 59.14%  
OB: 74.73%  

Overall: 60.18%  

 MS: 59.41%  
ICU: 60.14%  
OB: 75.73%  

Overall: 61.18%   

MS: 42.86%  
ICU: 100%  
OB: 66.67%  

Overall 64.29% 
 

FY 2026 PIPS Priority 
Degree to which all staff showed 
compassion (HCAHPS)* 
*Survey data may lag by 49 days per CMS 
reporting guidelines 

 
Inpatient [MS, 

ICU, OB] 
 

 
 
73.31% 

 
 

76.31% 

 
 

77% 

MS:73.15% 
ICU: 67.44%  
OB: 86.36%  

Overall: 73.36%  

MS: 75.15%  
ICU: 69.44%  
OB: 88.36%  

Overall: 75.36%  

MS: 76.15%  
ICU: 70.44%  
OB: 89.36%  

Overall: 76.36%  

MS: 75.00%  
ICU: 100%  
OB: 66.67%  

Overall: 80.00%  

FY 2026 PIPS Priority 
Degree to which all staff showed 
compassion (non-HCAHPS areas) *  
*Survey data may lag 

Surgical 
Services 

 
Emergency 
Department 

 
Specialty 

Clinics (MOB) 
 

Family 
Medicine/WIC 
(3000 College) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Not evaluated at this level in 
2024 

Surgical Services: 
91.25% 

 
Emergency 

Department: 
67.50% 

 
Specialty Clinics 

(MOB): 
88.34% 

 
3000 College Hill 

Clinics: 
90.01% 

Surgical Services: 
93.25% 

 
Emergency 

Department: 
69.50% 

 
Specialty Clinics 

(MOB):  
90.34% 

 
3000 College Hill 

Clinics:   
92.01% 

Surgical Services: 
 94.25% 

 
Emergency 

Department:  
70.50% 

 
Specialty Clinics 

(MOB):   
91.34% 

 
3000 College Hill 

Clinics:  
93.01% 

Surgical Services: 
100% 

 
Emergency 

Department: 
74.65% 

 
Specialty Clinics 

(MOB): 
91.46% 

 
3000 College Hill 

Clinics: 
92.15% 

 

 

78/102



Employee Experience Pillar: Last data update 8/31/2025 
 

Objective/Initiative 
 

 
Baseline 

 

 
FY 2025 

Target Goal 

 
FY 2025 

Stretch Goal 

 
FY 2025 Outcome 

& 
New Baseline 

 
Target Goal 

 

 
Stretch Goal 

 

 

FY 2026 YTD 

 
Reduce staff turnover by 
10% per year, using the 
current turnover rate.   
 

CY 2023: 
21% 

National 
Average 

2023: 22.7% 

10% 
reduction 

 
18.9% 

 
18% 

18% 
or 

63 staff separated 

16.2% 
or 

No more than  
57 staff separations 

15% 
or 

no more than  
54 staff 

separations 

July & August 2026 
 

12 staff separations 
15 newly hired staff 

 
 
 
 
Improve our employee 
engagement scores by 
3% per year. 
 

 
 
 

Baseline data 
collected 
October 

2024 

 
 
 
 

NA 

 
 
 
 

NA 

Surveys sent: 576 
Response Rate: 52% 

 
Overall Score: 

3.91/5.0 
 

Engagement levels: 
26% Highly Engaged 

41% Engaged 
26% Neutral 

8% Disengaged 

Response Rate: 60% 
 

Overall Score: 
statistically significant 

increase in overall score 
as determined by 

vendor 

Response Rate: 70% 
 

Engagement levels with 
statistically significant 

increase in Highly 
Engaged and Engaged 

and decreased in Neutral 
and Disengaged levels 

 
 
 

Survey will be conducted 
in fall of 2026 (FY27) 

 
Develop plans for 
success sharing bonuses 
for employees if goals 
are reached 

 
NA 

 
1 sharing 

bonus 

 
NA 

2 Success sharing 
bonuses FY 24 & 25 

New baseline is 
metric set for 

bonuses 

Likelihood to 
Recommend HCAHPS 
 
 

     

 

FY 2026 PIPS Priority 
With the assistance of a consulting agency current job descriptions will be 
evaluated and revised.  By 12/31/25 the team will evaluate all job 
descriptions and make revision as a step to improve employee experience 
and retention. 

 
Existing job 
descriptions 

 
Revisions completed by 
December 31, 2025. 

 
Revisions completed by 
November 30, 2025. 

 
Consultant group to meet 
with leadership mid-
September 

FY 2026 PIPS Priority 
Make revisions to the appraisal process. 

 
Existing process 

 
Revisions completed by 
April 30, 2026. 
 

 
Revisions completed by 
March 31, 2026. 

 
Will begin after job 
descriptions are revised 

FY 2026 PIPS Priority 
Pilot mentorship program developed and implemented for one hospital 
department based on baseline turnover rate based on FY 2025.   By June 
30, 2026, the Team will implement the Pilot Mentorship Program to aid 
in reduction of staff turnover. 

 
No mentorship 

program 

By June 30, 2026 one 
department will have 
fully implemented pilot 
mentorship program 

By June 30, 2026 two 
departments will have 
fully implemented pilot 
mentorship program 

 
Research occurring, 
meeting of key individuals 
on 9/22/25. 

 

 

 
 
 

79/102



 

 

Quality & Safety Pillar – Last Updated 9/10/2025 

 
Objective/Initiative 

 

 
Baseline 

 

 
FY 2025 
Target 
Goal 

 
FY 2025 
Stretch 
Goal 

 
FY 2025 Outcome & 

New Baseline 

 
Target Goal 

 

 
Stretch Goal 

 

 
FY 2026 YTD 

Improve overall star rating.  Objective Improve safety of care and timeliness of care   Measurement To be within the top 10% in three measures in the Timeliness of Care domain. 

SEP-1 Bundle Compliance 
Baseline from January 2025 Care 
Compare 
 

MHSC 66% 
State 68% 

Nation 62% 
Top 10% - 83% 

 
78% 

 
83% 

 
78.81% 

 
80% 

 
85% 

 
MHSC 80% 
Top 10% -no 

(July) 

ED Care – 18b Median Time of ED 
Arrival to ED Departure 
Baseline from January 2025 Care 
Compare 

MHSC 139 min 
State 135 min 

Nation 136 min 
Top 10% -100 mins 

 
134 min 

 
120 min 

 
185 min 

 
130 min 

 
120 min 

 
MHSC 120 min 

Top 10% -no 
(July) 

ED care – OP 22 Left Without Being 
Seen 
Baseline from January 2025 Care 
Compare 

MHSC 1% 
State 1% 

Nation 2% 
Top 10% - 0% 

 
0% 

 
0% 

 
0.98% 

 
0% 

 
NA 

 
0.76% 

Top 10% -no 
(July) 

ED Care – OP 40 STEMI 
Baseline from January 2025 Care 
Compare 
 

MHSC NA 
State NA 

Nation 46% 
Top 10% - 69% 

 
NA 

 
NA 

 
18% 

 
50% 

 
70% 

 
33% 

Top 10% -no 
(July/Aug) 

ED Care - OP23 -Stroke measure: 
Baseline from January 2025 Care 
Compare 
 
 

MHSC 92%  
State 56%  

National 70%  
Top 10% -  100% 

 
95% 

 

 
100% 

 

 
88.89% 

 
100% 

 
NA 

 
100% 

Top 10% - YES 
(July) 

Core OP29/ASC9 - Colonoscopy: 
F/U for Avg Risk Pts  
Baseline from January 2025 Care 
Compare 

MHSC 100% 
State 95% 

National 92% 
Top 10% - 100% 

 
100% 

 
100% 

 
100% 

 
100% 

 
NA 

 
100% 

Top 10% - YES 
(July) 

IMM 3 Influenza coverage  
Baseline from January 2025 Care 
Compare 

MHSC 98%  
State 80%  

Nation 80% 

 
98% 

 
98% 

 
100% 

 
Starts 10/1 

Hospital Harm HH01 
Severe Hypoglycemia 
Baseline from January 2025 Care 
Compare 

MHSC NA 
State 1% 

Nation 1% 
Top 10% - 0% 

 
2.2% 

 
Less than 1% 

 
0% 

 
MHSC 0% 

Top 10% - YES 

Hospital Harm HH02 
Severe Hyperglycemia 
Baseline from January 2025 Care 
Compare 

MHSC NA 
State 3% 

Nation 7% 
Top 10% - 0% 

 

 
15.7% 

 
Less than 10% 

 
Less than 7% 

 
MHSC 9.6% 
Top 10% - no 

(July/Aug) 

80/102



 
Objective/Initiative 
 

 
Baseline 

 

 
FY 2025 

Target Goal 

 
FY 2025 

Stretch Goal 

 
FY 2025 Outcome & 

New Baseline 

 
Target Goal 

 

 
Stretch Goal 

 

 
FY 2026 YTD 

100% of clinical staff 
will complete 
TeamSTEPPS 
training by the end of 
three years (CY 2027) 

 
 

0% 

 
 

66% 

 
 

75% 

 
 

79% 

 
 

95% of clinical by 
6/2026 

 
98% 

Clinical by 
6/2026 

 
 

86% Clinical 
90% Non-Clinical 

 
 

FY 2026 PIPS Priority 
 
Timely and Effective Care – Safe use of opioids  
electronic clinical quality measure (eCQM)  
 
By December 31, 2025, MHSC will achieve 12% or less concurrent prescribing of two or 
more opioids or opioids and benzodiazepines on discharge based on applicable cases.  

Plan goal re-evaluation in December 2025 for the remainder of FY 2026.  
 

 
 

MHSC 15% 
State 15% 

Nation 15% 
Top 10% - 8% 

(January 2025 care 
compare) 

FY 25 MHSC 12.9% 

 
 
 

12% by 
December 31, 

2025  

 
 
 

 10% by 
December 31, 

2025 

 
 

MHSC 8.6% 
Top 10% - no 

(July/Aug) 

FY 2026 PIPS Priority 
 
Pain Assessment and Reassessment  
 
By September 30, 2025, a consistent auditing process and tool will be developed  
Plan goal reevaluation in September 2025 for quarter two of FY 2026.  

  

 
Audit process/tool not 
in place. Target goal for 

compliance will be 
determined after sample 

baseline audit 
information available. 

 
 

Develop audit 
process/tool by 
September 30, 

2025  
 

 
 

Develop 
audit/process 
tool by July 

31, 2025   

 
Audit tool and 

process developed 
and in place 

 
Goals being re-

evaluated 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

81/102



Community, Services and Growth Pillar - Last data update 9/10/2025 
 

Objective/Initiative 
 

 
Baseline 

 

 
FY 2025 

Target Goal 

 
FY 2025 

Stretch Goal 

 
FY 2025 

Outcome & 
New 

Baseline 

 
Target Goal 

 

 
Stretch 
Goal 

 

 

FY 2026 YTD 

Improve and establish outreach to community and outlying areas/ Increase number of community presentations 
 

Community education  
 
 

Baseline data 
unavailable, 

goals are being 
set by each 

team. 
 

 
7 

presentations 
 

 
8 

Presentations 

 
7 

presentations 

 
Add 6 

presentations 

 
Add 8 

presentations 

 
Meeting exceeded 

Diabetes Education Training Whole 
Process 

On target Manage referrals Meeting goal 

Care for the caregiver Resources for 
caregiver 

Whole 
Process 

On target Increase 
community 

Contact 

Have 211 
Ambassador 

 
Meeting goal 

Mental health Secure mental 
health services 

Whole 
process 

On target Prosper 
training for 
MHSC staff 

Increasing 
access to 

Qler 
telehealth 

 
Meeting goal 

Improve from a Google 2-star Rating to a 
Google 3-star rating by the end of three 
years 

 
2.3 

 
3 

 
4 

 
4.1 

 
4 

 
4.5 

 
Hospital 4.3 

Hospital + Clinics 4.7 
 

 

 
FY 2026 PIPS Priority 

Measurement: Advance key areas identified in our community needs assessment  
Sub-Measurement: Conduct community health needs assessment (CHNA) by the end of FY 
2026  

 
Last CHNA 

2019 

 
Present 
CHNA 

overview to 
the Board of 
Trustees by 
June 2026  

 
Present 
CHNA 

overview to 
the Board of 
Trustees by 
March 2026  

 

  
Three (3) companies have been 
interviewed and are submitting 

proposals. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

82/102



Financial Stewardship Pillar – Last data update 9/10/2025 
 

Objective/Initiative 
 

 
Baseline 

 

 
FY 2025 

Target Goal 

 
FY 2025 

Stretch Goal 

 
FY 2025 Outcome 

& 
New Baseline 

 
Target Goal 

 

 
Stretch Goal 

 

 

FY 2026 YTD 

Improve Days of Cash on Hand by 
10% each year for three year 

1/1/24 = 
110.9 

 
119 

 
125 

 
124  

FY26 = 131 
FY27 = 144 

 
135 

 
 119    

Reduce and maintain Days in A/R to 
45 days by the end of 2024 

 
CY 24 Jan-
Jul Average 

63 days 

 
54 days 

 
45 by 

12/31/27 
 

 
51.9 

 

 
46 days by 
6/30/26 

 
Less than 45 

days by 
12/31/27 

 

 
51.3 

Maintain the level of claims denials at 
state and national benchmarks 

 
CY 24 Apr-
June 24.7% 

 
<15% by end of 

FY 2025 

 
<12% by end 

of FY25 
 

 
 

14% 

 
Less than 15% 

by June 30, 2024 

 
 

(7%) 

 
No data available 

Reduce and maintain Days Not Final 
Billed (DNFB) 

CY 24 Jan-
Aug Average 

10.1 days 

 
5 days 

 
< 5 days by 
end of FY25 

 
6.3 

 
5 days 

 
< 5 days by end 

of FY25 

 
7.5 

Build and maintain the building fund 
to the amount of depreciation 
expense by the end of three years / 
Supplement the building fund from 
monthly, quarterly, or annual 
contributions from cash flow from 
operations to achieve the total 
amount of depreciation expense by 
the end of three-year strategic plan 

 
 
 
 

6/30/2024 
$7,000,000 

 
 
amount of 
depreciation 
expense by the 
end of three 
years 

 

Intermediate 
goal - $8 

million by 
06/30/25.   

 
 
 
 

$7,447,000 as of 
12/31/24 

 
 
 

$11.2 M  
 

 
 
 

$12.5M  

 
 
 

$10.3 M 

Decrease the number of Nursing and 
Respiratory Therapy travel staff by 
30%, per year for three years 

 
CY 2023 

RT/RN staff 
17 total 

 
RT/RN Staff 

11.9 total 

 
RT/RN Staff 

11 total 

18 total 
(RN/RRT) 

17 RN / 1 RRT 
7 Med. Img. 

1 Lab 
1 Rehab 

 
No >13 

RN/RRT 

 
No >11 

RN/RRT 

11 
10 RN/1RRT 
7 Med. Img. 

0 Lab 
0 Rehab 

Nursing leadership will work with 
Human Resources to recruit and 
retain permanent staff and reduce 
travel staff by 30% per year 

 

FY 2026 PIPS Priority 
Overall Goal: Managing financial resources that will provide for the reinvestment in our 
people, services, physical facility buildings and grounds and our community  
Measurement: Complete a project plan to address the Master Plan  

 
Baseline:  

No project plan in 
place.  

Identify top three 
priorities by 

September 30, 
2025.  

 

Identify 
sequential 

changes necessary 
to address the top 

priority area(s)  
by March 31, 

2026.  

OB Renovation 
Laundry 

Renovation 
Foundation 
Renovation 

 

 
 

 
 

83/102



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:10/1/2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 
Cardiovascular Privilege Form 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☒ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
This is a revised privilege form, with the new format that we have utilized for 
other specialties.  This form has been approved by Dr. Mansour Khaddr 
(Cardiologist), as well as the Medicine Department Chair, Credentials Committee, 
and MEC. 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Approval of Privilege Form 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☐ For Review Only 

 ☒ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☒ In House Comments:Suzan has reviewed this form at Credentials 
Committee and also at MEC.  

 ☐ Board  Comments:Click or tap here to enter text. 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
Recommend Approval 

84/102



 
 
 

 
 
Name:                          Page 1 

 

Rev: 08/2025 

Delineation of Privileges 
CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINE PRIVILEGES 

 
 Initial appointment    Reappointment    Modification of Privileges 

Applicant 
Check the “Requested” box for each privilege requested. Applicants have the burden of producing information deemed adequate by 
the hospital for a proper evaluation of current competence, current clinical activity, and other qualifications and for resolving any 
doubts related to qualifications for requested privileges. 

To be eligible to request privileges in Cardiovascular Medicine, a practitioner must meet the following minimum threshold criteria: 
 

LICENSURE / 
PROFESSIONAL 
LIABILITY 
INSURANCE 

MD or DO 
Licensed to practice medicine in the State of Wyoming 
Current Wyoming designated DEA Registration and current Wyoming Controlled Substance Registration 
Proof of Professional Liability Insurance in the amounts of at least: Per Claim: $1,000,000.00 Aggregate: 
$3,000,000.00 

EDUCATION / 
TRAINING 

Completion of an approved residency in Internal Medicine by the Accreditation Council for Graduate 
Medical Education (ACGME) or American Osteopathic Association (AOA); AND completion of an 
ACGME or AOA accredited fellowship training program in Cardiovascular Disease or Cardiology.  

CERTIFICATION Certification by the applicable Internal Medicine board for any clinical privileges for which applicant has 
applied, or be eligible for certification by such board; AND certification in Cardiovascular Disease by 
the American Board of Internal Medicine or certification in Cardiology by the American Osteopathic 
Board of Internal Medicine, or be eligible for certification by such board.   Once physician is board 
certified, Maintenance of Board Certification is required. 

CLINICAL 
EXPERIENCE 
(INITIAL) 

Applicants for initial appointment must be able to demonstrate provision of Cardiovascular Disease 
services reflective of scope of privileges requested, in the last 12 months or demonstrate successful 
completion of an ACGME- or AOA-accredited residency, clinical fellowship, or research in a clinical 
setting within the past 12 months. 
Applicants for initial appointment may be requested to provide documentation of the number and types 
of cases during the past 24 months.  Applicants have the burden of producing information deemed 
adequate by the Hospital for a proper evaluation of current competence, and other qualifications and for 
resolving any doubts. 

CLINICAL 
EXPERIENCE 
(REAPPOINTMENT) 

To be eligible to renew core privileges in Cardiovascular Medicine, the applicant must meet the 
following maintenance of privilege criteria: Current demonstrated competence and an adequate volume 
of experience with acceptable results, reflective of the scope of privileges requested, for the past 24 
months based on results of ongoing professional practice evaluation and outcomes. Evidence of current 
ability to perform privileges requested is required of all applicants for renewal of privileges. 

FPPE FPPE criteria will be assigned by the Department Chair during the approval process. 
OTHER 
REQUIREMENTS 

• Note that privileges granted may only be exercised at the site(s) and setting(s) that have the 
appropriate equipment, license, beds, staff, and other support required to provide the services 
defined in this document. Site-specific services may be defined in hospital or department policy. 

• This document is focused on defining qualifications related to competency to exercise clinical 
privileges. The applicant must also adhere to any additional organizational, regulatory, or 
accreditation requirements that the organization is obligated to meet.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

85/102



 
 
 

 
 
Name:                          Page 2 

 

Rev: 08/2025 

 
Requested  Board 

Approval 
 PATIENT POPULATION  
        ☐ Adult (18 years or older)        ☐ 
        ☐ Geriatric (65 and older)        ☐ 

 SETTING  
☐ Outpatient ☐ 
☐ Inpatient  ☐ 

Requested CHECK ALL PRIVILEGES/PROCEDURES YOU ARE REQUESTING Approved 
☐ Admit, evaluate, diagnose, provide consultation, medically manage, and treat patients with 

cardiovascular complaints.. Privileges include medical management of general medical 
conditions which are encountered in the course of caring for the cardiovascular patient.  
Provide care to patients in the intensive care setting in conformance with unit policies. 
Assess, stabilize, and determine disposition of patients with emergent conditions consistent 
with medical staff policy regarding emergency and consultative call services. 

☐ 

☐ Adult Echocardiography ☐ 
☐ Cardiopulmonary exercise testing ☐ 
☐ Clinical pharmacology ☐ 
☐ Direct Current Cardioversion ☐ 
☐ Electrocardiogram (EKG) interpretation including ambulatory monitoring ☐ 
☐ Elective or emergency cardioversion  ☐ 
☐ Event monitor interpretation ☐ 
☐ Exercise/Dobutamine Stress Echocardiography ☐ 
☐ Exercise Electrocardiogram ☐ 
☐ Exercise/Pharmacologic SPECT Myocardial Perfusion ☐ 
☐ Holter monitor interpretation ☐ 
☐ Perform History & Physical exam ☐ 
☐ Stress test interpretation ☐ 
☐ Transesophageal Echocardiogram (TEE) ☐ 
☐ Twenty-four (24) hour blood pressure monitoring interpretation ☐ 
 Administration of Sedation and Analgesia 

Must be requested separately. Contact Medical Staff Services for privilege form. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

86/102



 
 
 

 
 
Name:                          Page 3 

 

Rev: 08/2025 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF APPLICANT 
I have requested only those privileges for which by education, training, current experience, and demonstrated performance I am 
qualified to perform and that I wish to exercise at Hospital, and I understand that: 
a. In exercising any clinical privileges granted, I am constrained by Hospital and Medical Staff policies and rules applicable 

generally and any applicable to the particular situation. 
b. Any restriction on the clinical privileges granted to me is waived in an emergency situation and in such situation my actions are 

governed by the applicable section of the Medical Staff Bylaws or related documents. 
 
Applicant’s Printed Name:      
 
Applicant’s Signature:       Date:      
 

 
DEPARTMENT CHAIR REVIEW 
I have reviewed the requested clinical privileges and supporting documentation and make the following recommendations: 
 
☐ Recommend all privileges as requested 

 
☐ Recommend privileges with conditions/modifications (describe): 

 
 
 

☐ Do not recommend the following requested privileges (rationale for recommendation): 
 
 
 

☐ I assign ________________________________________ to complete the initial FPPE evaluations on this Practitioner. 
 
 
Department Chair’s Printed Name      
 
 
Department Chair’s Signature:       Date:      
 

 

FOR MEDICAL STAFF OFFICE USE ONLY 
Credentials Committee approval Date:    
Medical Executive Committee Approval Date:    
Board of Trustees approval Date:    
 
Privileges Effective From: ____________________ To: ____________________ 
 
Date Form Approved by Specialty:   8/1/2025    
Date Form Approved by Department Chair:  9/16/2025     
Date Approved by Credentials Committee:  9/16/2025   
Date Approved by MEC:    9/23/2025   
Date Approved by Board of Trustees:       

87/102



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:10/1/2025  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 

2025-26 MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE 
SWEETWATER COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AND THE 
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
. 

 

 Board Committee Action: 

. 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☐ For Review Only 

 ☒ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☐ In House Comments:. 

 ☒ Board  Comments: Provided by Geoff Phillips 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
The CEO recommends approval of the MOU 

88/102



Page 1 of 5 
 

2025-26 MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN 

THE SWEETWATER COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS AND 

THE MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER 

COUNTY 
 

1. PARTIES. The parties to this Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) are the 
Sweetwater County Board of County Commissioners (“COUNTY”), 80 West Flaming 
Gorge Way, Green River, Wyoming 82935 and the Board of Trustees of Memorial 
Hospital of Sweetwater County (the “Hospital”), 1200 College Drive, Rock Springs, 
Wyoming 82901. 

 

2. PURPOSE AND SCOPE. The parties recognize the value of continuing the 

collaborative relationship to provide quality healthcare to the Sweetwater County 

community in accordance with Wyoming law. The parties are entering into this MOU  

with the specific and mutual goals of working together to ensure the Hospital has the 

necessary COUNTY funding  to  be  the  community’s trusted  healthcare  leader; address 

COUNTY  funding  of  the  Hospital  for  the  2025-2026  fiscal  year  as  set  forth  under 

Wyoming law; provide information to the Hospital regarding changes to the budgeting 

methods that will be implemented by COUNTY during the 2025-2026 fiscal year; and, 

ensure the collaborative and productive relationship between the parties continues. 

3. TERM. The provisions of this MOU shall commence on July 1, 2025, or the date last 
executed by the duly authorized representatives of the parties to this MOU, whichever 
is later, and shall terminate on June 30, 2026. See W.S. § 16-4-111(a). There is no right 

or expectation of extension and any extension will be determined at the discretion of the 
parties. 

4. PROPERTY. In accordance with the terms and conditions of Title 18, Chapter 8 of 
Wyoming Statutes, COUNTY owns the real property, attachments, additions, 

alterations, improvements and grounds located at: 

 

a. Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County, Rock Springs, Wyoming 82901. 

The above-identified grounds shall be referred to as the “Property.” 

5. SERVICES. In accordance with the terms and conditions of Title 18, Chapter 8 of 
Wyoming Statute, the Hospital provides healthcare services to the Sweetwater County 
community. 

6. THE COMMITMENTS OF THE PARTIES: 

a. The parties hereby expressly acknowledge this MOU and the ongoing 

collaboration between the parties described herein are exclusively governed by 

the provisions of Title 18, Chapter 8 of Wyoming Statutes and applicable 

Wyoming and federal law. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, it is the 

89/102



Page 2 of 5 
 

intent of the parties to comply with all the provisions of Title 18, Chapter 8 of 

Wyoming Statutes and applicable Wyoming and federal law. Any provision of 

this MOU that is determined to be in conflict with the provisions of Title 18, 

Chapter 8 of Wyoming Statutes and applicable Wyoming or federal law shall be 

null and void and in no further force or effect. 

 

b. COUNTY shall appropriate the budget request of the Hospital for Hospital 

maintenance in the amount of $1,447,109.40. The COUNTY will take into 

account prior realized Hospital mill dedications and revenues from taxes such that 

the budget dedication as of the date of this MOU is $1,447,109.40. COUNTY 

shall appropriate additional funds in an amount determined by COUNTY to 

compensate the Hospital for Title 25 funding as set forth below in paragraph c.  

The appropriation for $1,447,109.40 includes $426,350.00 for the purpose of 

remodeling rooms within the Hospital obstetrics department pursuant to 

Resolution 25-05-CC-01. 

 
c. Title 25: The Hospital provides emergency detention mental health services in 

accordance with Title 25 of the Wyoming Statutes (“Title 25”). COUNTY is 
obligated by statute to reimburse the Hospital for certain Title 25 costs as set 
forth in W.S. § 25-10-112. The actual funding required to cover the statutory 
costs of Title 25 patients during the term of this MOU is dependent on the 
number of Title 25 patients treated.   Based on the Title 25 patient volume from 
the previous year, the estimated cost to treat Title 25 patients during the term of 
this MOU is $275,003.00. The budgeted amount of Title 25 funding in the 
amount of $275,003.00 may increase or decrease depending on the volume of 
Title 25 patients during the 2025-2026 fiscal year. From time to time during the 
2025-2026 fiscal year, as the Hospital treats Title 25 patients, the Hospital will 
submit funding requests for the treatment of Title 25 patients to COUNTY for 
approval. If the cost of Title 25 patients exceeds the budgeted amount of 
$275,003.00, COUNTY will increase the budgeted amount of $275,003.00 to 
cover the excess cost. If the cost of Title 25 patients is less than $275,003.00, 
COUNTY will retain any unexpended funds from the budgeted amount of 
$275,003.00. At the end of the 2025-2026 fiscal year, the Title 25 budget amount 
of $275,003.00 will be amended by COUNTY to accurately reflect the actual 
Title 25 funds expended for 2025-2026. The parties shall follow the same 
procedure used during the 2024-2025 fiscal year to calculate the Title 25 
reimbursement amounts, submit requests for payment, provide Title 25 budget 
information to COUNTY and amend the Title 25 budget.  
 

d. Said total appropriation, including any Title 25 amendments as set forth herein, 
shall satisfy all statutory requirements and the total number of mills dedicated to 
the Hospital with no amounts owing. Notwithstanding anything contained 
herein, the Hospital, in its sole discretion, shall be permitted to request funds 
deemed necessary by the Hospital or request matching grant funds from 
COUNTY in excess of the budgeted amounts set forth herein.  

 

e. The Hospital acknowledges COUNTY will receive prior Hospital dedications and 

revenues from taxes to be set into the county memorial hospital fund which will 

then be distributed via voucher reimbursement in the estimated amount of 

$1,447,109.40 subject to the Title 25 budget amendments referenced herein and 

90/102



Page 3 of 5 
 

in accordance with applicable Wyoming law. 

f. COUNTY issued revenue bonds in 2006 and 2008 for the purpose of acquiring, 
erecting, constructing, reconstructing, improving, remodeling, furnishing or 
equipping the Property. The same bonds were reissued or converted in 2013, 
2021 and 2023. 

 

7. GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

 
a. No Admission; Neither party will consider, deem, or suggest that anything in this 

MOU constitutes the other party's admission of liability, wrongdoing, or 
violation of Law. 

b. Termination: This MOU may be terminated (a) by either party, with thirty (30) 
days prior written notice to the other party; or (b) upon mutual written agreement 
by both parties. 

c. Amendments: Any changes, modifications, revisions, or amendments to this 

MOU which are mutually agreed upon by the parties to this MOU shall be only 
by written agreement, duly executed by all parties hereto. 

d. Contingencies: The parties certify and warrant no gratuities, kick-backs or 
contingency fees were paid in connection with this MOU, nor were any fees, 

commissions, gifts or other considerations made contingent upon the execution of 

this MOU. 
e. COUNTY  Governmental/Sovereign  Immunity: COUNTY does not waive its 

Governmental/Sovereign Immunity, as provided by any applicable law 

including W.S. § 1-39-101 et seq., by entering into this MOU. Further, 

COUNTY fully retains all immunities and defenses provided by law with 

regard to any action, whether in tort, contract or any other theory of law, based 

on this MOU. 

f. Hospital   Governmental/Sovereign   Immunity:  the Hospital does  not  waive its 

Governmental/Sovereign  Immunity, as provided  by any applicable  law including 

W.S. § 1-39-101 et seq., by entering into this MOU. Further, the Hospital fully 

retains all immunities and defenses provided by law with regard to any action, 

whether in tort, contract or any other theory of law, based on this MOU. 

g. Notices: All notices required and permitted under this MOU shall be deemed to 
have been given, if and when deposited in the U.S. Mail, properly stamped and 

addressed to the party for whom intended at such party’s address listed herein, 

or when personally delivered to such party. A party may change its address for 
notice hereunder by giving written notice to the other party. 

h. Counterparts: This MOU may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of 

which will together be deemed an original, but all of which together shall 

constitute one and the same instrument. If any signature is delivered by facsimile 

transmission, electronic mail of a PDF format data file, or electronic signature, 

such signature shall create a valid and binding obligation of the party executing 

(or on whose behalf such signature is executed) with the same force and effect 

as if such signature were an original thereof. 
 
 
 

91/102



Page 4 of 5 
 

 
 
 
i. Audit and Access to Records: The parties to this MOU and their respective 

representatives shall have access to any books, documents, papers, electronic data, 
and records which are pertinent to this MOU (“Records”). A party receiving a 
request for Records shall immediately, upon receiving the request from the 
requesting party, provide said documents to the requesting party or its 
representative or independent auditor for review and cooperate fully with the 
same. 

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  

92/102



Page 5 of 5 
 

 
COUNTY HOSPITAL DEPRECIATION ACCOUNT  

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN  

THE SWEETWATER COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY  

COMMISSIONERS AND  

THE MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

 

Signature Page 

 

SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING 

 

By:  _________________________________________________ Date _____________ 

     Keaton D. West, Chairman, Sweetwater County Commissioners 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By:   _________________________________________________ Date _____________ 

     Cynthia L. Lane, Sweetwater County Clerk 

 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY DIRECTOR 

 

By:  ________________________________________________    Date _______________ 

   Irene Richardson, CEO,  

  Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

                        

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

By:  ________________________________________________    Date _______________ 

   Kandi Pendleton,  

  President of the Board of Trustees, 

  Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

   

 This Agreement is effective the date of the last signature affixed to this page. 

    

REVIEWED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

 

By:  _______________________________________________ Date ______________ 

     Sweetwater County Attorney  

 

 

By:  _______________________________________________ Date ______________ 

     Attorney for Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County  
 

 

93/102



Page 1 of 5 
 

2025-26 MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN 

THE SWEETWATER COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS AND 

THE MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER 

COUNTY 
 

1. PARTIES. The parties to this Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) are the 
Sweetwater County Board of County Commissioners (“COUNTY”), 80 West Flaming 
Gorge Way, Green River, Wyoming 82935 and the Board of Trustees of Memorial 
Hospital of Sweetwater County (the “Hospital”), 1200 College Drive, Rock Springs, 
Wyoming 82901. 

 

2. PURPOSE AND SCOPE. The parties recognize the value of continuing the 

collaborative relationship to provide quality healthcare to the Sweetwater County 

community in accordance with Wyoming law. The parties are entering into this MOU  

with the specific and mutual goals of working together to ensure the Hospital has the 

necessary COUNTY funding  to  be  the  community’s trusted  healthcare  leader; address 

COUNTY  funding  of  the  Hospital  for  the  2025-2026  fiscal  year  as  set  forth  under 

Wyoming law; provide information to the Hospital regarding changes to the budgeting 

methods that will be implemented by COUNTY during the 2025-2026 fiscal year; and, 

ensure the collaborative and productive relationship between the parties continues. 

3. TERM. The provisions of this MOU shall commence on July 1, 2025, or the date last 
executed by the duly authorized representatives of the parties to this MOU, whichever 
is later, and shall terminate on June 30, 2026. See W.S. § 16-4-111(a). There is no right 

or expectation of extension and any extension will be determined at the discretion of the 
parties. 

4. PROPERTY. In accordance with the terms and conditions of Title 18, Chapter 8 of 
Wyoming Statutes, COUNTY owns the real property, attachments, additions, 

alterations, improvements and grounds located at: 

 

a. Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County, Rock Springs, Wyoming 82901. 

The above-identified grounds shall be referred to as the “Property.” 

5. SERVICES. In accordance with the terms and conditions of Title 18, Chapter 8 of 
Wyoming Statute, the Hospital provides healthcare services to the Sweetwater County 
community. 

6. THE COMMITMENTS OF THE PARTIES: 

a. The parties hereby expressly acknowledge this MOU and the ongoing 

collaboration between the parties described herein are exclusively governed by 

the provisions of Title 18, Chapter 8 of Wyoming Statutes and applicable 

Wyoming and federal law. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, it is the 

94/102



Page 2 of 5 
 

intent of the parties to comply with all the provisions of Title 18, Chapter 8 of 

Wyoming Statutes and applicable Wyoming and federal law. Any provision of 

this MOU that is determined to be in conflict with the provisions of Title 18, 

Chapter 8 of Wyoming Statutes and applicable Wyoming or federal law shall be 

null and void and in no further force or effect. 

 

b. COUNTY shall appropriate the budget request of the Hospital for Hospital 

maintenance in the amount of $1,447,109.40. The COUNTY will take into 

account prior realized Hospital mill dedications and revenues from taxes such that 

the budget dedication as of the date of this MOU is $1,447,109.40. COUNTY 

shall appropriate additional funds in an amount determined by COUNTY to 

compensate the Hospital for Title 25 funding as set forth below in paragraph c.  

The appropriation for $1,447,109.40 includes $426,350.00 for the purpose of 

remodeling rooms within the Hospital obstetrics department pursuant to 

Resolution 25-05-CC-01. 

 
c. Title 25: The Hospital provides emergency detention mental health services in 

accordance with Title 25 of the Wyoming Statutes (“Title 25”). COUNTY is 
obligated by statute to reimburse the Hospital for certain Title 25 costs as set 
forth in W.S. § 25-10-112. The actual funding required to cover the statutory 
costs of Title 25 patients during the term of this MOU is dependent on the 
number of Title 25 patients treated.   Based on the Title 25 patient volume from 
the previous year, the estimated cost to treat Title 25 patients during the term of 
this MOU is $275,003.00. The budgeted amount of Title 25 funding in the 
amount of $275,003.00 may increase or decrease depending on the volume of 
Title 25 patients during the 2025-2026 fiscal year. From time to time during the 
2025-2026 fiscal year, as the Hospital treats Title 25 patients, the Hospital will 
submit funding requests for the treatment of Title 25 patients to COUNTY for 
approval. If the cost of Title 25 patients exceeds the budgeted amount of 
$275,003.00, COUNTY will increase the budgeted amount of $275,003.00 to 
cover the excess cost. If the cost of Title 25 patients is less than $275,003.00, 
COUNTY will retain any unexpended funds from the budgeted amount of 
$275,003.00. At the end of the 2025-2026 fiscal year, the Title 25 budget amount 
of $275,003.00 will be amended by COUNTY to accurately reflect the actual 
Title 25 funds expended for 2025-2026. The parties shall follow the same 
procedure used during the 2024-2025 fiscal year to calculate the Title 25 
reimbursement amounts, submit requests for payment, provide Title 25 budget 
information to COUNTY and amend the Title 25 budget.  
 

d. Said total appropriation, including any Title 25 amendments as set forth herein, 
shall satisfy all statutory requirements and the total number of mills dedicated to 
the Hospital with no amounts owing. Notwithstanding anything contained 
herein, the Hospital, in its sole discretion, shall be permitted to request funds 
deemed necessary by the Hospital or request matching grant funds from 
COUNTY in excess of the budgeted amounts set forth herein.  

 

e. The Hospital acknowledges COUNTY will receive prior Hospital dedications and 

revenues from taxes to be set into the county memorial hospital fund which will 

then be distributed via voucher reimbursement in the estimated amount of 

$1,447,109.40 subject to the Title 25 budget amendments referenced herein and 

95/102



Page 3 of 5 
 

in accordance with applicable Wyoming law. 

f. COUNTY issued revenue bonds in 2006 and 2008 for the purpose of acquiring, 
erecting, constructing, reconstructing, improving, remodeling, furnishing or 
equipping the Property. The same bonds were reissued or converted in 2013, 
2021 and 2023. 

 

7. GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

 
a. No Admission; Neither party will consider, deem, or suggest that anything in this 

MOU constitutes the other party's admission of liability, wrongdoing, or 
violation of Law. 

b. Termination: This MOU may be terminated (a) by either party, with thirty (30) 
days prior written notice to the other party; or (b) upon mutual written agreement 
by both parties. 

c. Amendments: Any changes, modifications, revisions, or amendments to this 

MOU which are mutually agreed upon by the parties to this MOU shall be only 
by written agreement, duly executed by all parties hereto. 

d. Contingencies: The parties certify and warrant no gratuities, kick-backs or 
contingency fees were paid in connection with this MOU, nor were any fees, 

commissions, gifts or other considerations made contingent upon the execution of 

this MOU. 
e. COUNTY  Governmental/Sovereign  Immunity: COUNTY does not waive its 

Governmental/Sovereign Immunity, as provided by any applicable law 

including W.S. § 1-39-101 et seq., by entering into this MOU. Further, 

COUNTY fully retains all immunities and defenses provided by law with 

regard to any action, whether in tort, contract or any other theory of law, based 

on this MOU. 

f. Hospital   Governmental/Sovereign   Immunity:  the Hospital does  not  waive its 

Governmental/Sovereign  Immunity, as provided  by any applicable  law including 

W.S. § 1-39-101 et seq., by entering into this MOU. Further, the Hospital fully 

retains all immunities and defenses provided by law with regard to any action, 

whether in tort, contract or any other theory of law, based on this MOU. 

g. Notices: All notices required and permitted under this MOU shall be deemed to 
have been given, if and when deposited in the U.S. Mail, properly stamped and 

addressed to the party for whom intended at such party’s address listed herein, 

or when personally delivered to such party. A party may change its address for 
notice hereunder by giving written notice to the other party. 

h. Counterparts: This MOU may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of 

which will together be deemed an original, but all of which together shall 

constitute one and the same instrument. If any signature is delivered by facsimile 

transmission, electronic mail of a PDF format data file, or electronic signature, 

such signature shall create a valid and binding obligation of the party executing 

(or on whose behalf such signature is executed) with the same force and effect 

as if such signature were an original thereof. 
 
 
 

96/102



Page 4 of 5 
 

 
 
 
i. Audit and Access to Records: The parties to this MOU and their respective 

representatives shall have access to any books, documents, papers, electronic data, 
and records which are pertinent to this MOU (“Records”). A party receiving a 
request for Records shall immediately, upon receiving the request from the 
requesting party, provide said documents to the requesting party or its 
representative or independent auditor for review and cooperate fully with the 
same. 

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  

97/102



Page 5 of 5 
 

 
COUNTY HOSPITAL DEPRECIATION ACCOUNT  

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN  

THE SWEETWATER COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY  

COMMISSIONERS AND  

THE MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

 

Signature Page 

 

SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING 

 

By:  _________________________________________________ Date _____________ 

     Keaton D. West, Chairman, Sweetwater County Commissioners 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By:   _________________________________________________ Date _____________ 

     Cynthia L. Lane, Sweetwater County Clerk 

 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY DIRECTOR 

 

By:  ________________________________________________    Date _______________ 

   Irene Richardson, CEO,  

  Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

                        

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

By:  ________________________________________________    Date _______________ 

   Kandi Pendleton,  

  President of the Board of Trustees, 

  Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

   

 This Agreement is effective the date of the last signature affixed to this page. 

    

REVIEWED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

 

By:  _______________________________________________ Date ______________ 

     Sweetwater County Attorney  

 

 

By:  _______________________________________________ Date ______________ 

     Attorney for Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County  
 

 

98/102



 

 

 

 

The Rural Health Landscape: Advocacy 

TRANSCRIPT 

Why should Board members be involved in advocacy work? 

A key critical stakeholder in our rural organizations that we can't lose sight of are our elected officials. 

Those could be elected officials in our communities at the state level, and congressional leaders as 

well.  

Policies that are made, whether that's at the federal level or the state level, have great impact on our 

organizations and making sure that we're telling the story, that they're really informed of the 

challenges, the issues that we're facing, how certain policies impact our organizations, and by 

extension, then our patients and our community is really important.  

Health care is a very complex industry, and it's very difficult for even people inside the industry to be 

able to get their arms around all of the complexity and all of the issues. So it becomes that much 

more challenging for elected officials to try to understand the depth of some of these issues.  

As we're going through this whole transition, you know, in health care and we're engaging with our 

elected officials, I think board members bring some unique perspectives, not just as a board member 

of the organization. Many of them are employers in our communities and or an end user of the health 

care system. So they can actually experience, you know, the health care system in a variety of 

different perspectives.  

And I think bringing those stories forward, understanding that, you know, hospitals are a critical pillar 

in rural communities in particular. Often they are the largest employer, certainly an economic engine, 

for the community with, you know, jobs and workforce and, you know, the ways that they connect with 

other organizations, you know, to support the whole community and help the community thrive is 

another role that we play.  

So, you know, advocacy is one of those things that maybe board members don't always see as a role. 

It might be they think, you know, the CEO should do it. But I really do think that it's a great 

opportunity, particularly today when there is so much that is going on. Telling our story is something 

that's really important. And we have to get out and we have to do it often. And I think, you know, that 

the board can help just be an extension of being able to do that and get that story out there so that 

we're not harmed in the process just because we weren't.  

 

99/102



 

 

How can Board members get involved with advocacy? 

Board members who would like to get more involved with the advocacy for their rural or health care 

organizations can, I think do this in a multitude of ways. 

I think first and foremost, it's just understanding, you know, the issues that are most pressing and 

important to your local organization, so that can be a discussion, you know, with your CEO about 

what those issues are, how those show up in the organization, what are the policies that are related 

to that.  

Once a board member is well informed around what those issues are for their local organization, I 

think they may want to also look at, you know, what are the opportunities that state hospital 

associations might have for training and education for board members specifically.  

Many of these hospital associations provide trustee education. Some of them, most of them probably 

have spots on their board for trustees. So being able to engage in, in roles like that, is a way to get 

more educated, to get more opportunities, to be on the front end of that advocacy agenda. 

In state associations in particular, there's a lot of opportunity to potentially testify on policies to, talk 

with legislators informally or in small groups. And, and we're really looking for, all types of 

perspectives and board members certainly have a multitude of perspectives that could, be brought 

forward.  

But I think working with, hospital associations and or even the American Hospital Association and 

trustee education and briefings. These organizations really put together some solid information 

around the key policies and the advocacy that is being put forward because that's their primary 

purpose. And board members just can kind of step into that. And if there is a willingness to engage 

with elected officials and have that dialog that's really the core work.  

But it has to link back to your local organization. What are those issues? How does that manifest in 

your local community? What is good about a policy? What is, maybe harmful about a policy and being 

able to articulate those well, and share stories of that, it is really what legislators are looking for.  

In my case, I have a board member who is on a regional policy board, and prior to that board 

meeting, there is information that he has sent about the agenda, the policies they're going to talk 

about, and so forth. So I have the opportunity to sit down with him, talk through all of the issues, find 

examples here locally that illustrate that so that he can talk in a confident and informed manner and 

share that information.  

He comes back to our full board meeting, and he shares all of the conversations that were happening 

at that regional policy board, which, again, just elevates the understanding of the full board, that, you 

know, in our hospital such that really people are just more informed, our board members are more 

informed about the issues, about the policies. And I could take, you know, different ones to go and 

speak to different legislators.  

I think another opportunity is, you know, the hospital can invite legislators or elected officials to the 

location, give them a tour, show them, what is going on, inside the walls, and really again, illustrate. 

100/102



 

 

What could help? What could harm, you know, depending on how a policy moves its way through, the 

process.  

I think it's this is a constant this is something that really never stops, even if there are cycles of, you 

know, advocacy that can happen. I think at the end of the day, we really are constantly advocating, 

which is really around educating more than anything and telling our story so nobody else is telling it 

for us. 

What should be avoided when getting involved with advocacy? 

There's a really important opportunity for board members to get involved in advocacy, and I would 

encourage all board members to really think strongly about doing so. Board members carry a lot of 

weight at their local communities, at state levels. And I think even nationally and being able to tell the 

story of their local health care organization.  

In all of that, I think it's important that board members ensure that they understand what the issues 

are, specifically that are facing their local health care organization and, and have, you know, some 

examples of how that manifests so that they can share those to illustrate, what these issues are and 

know what those positions are desired by the local organization.  

In their advocacy, I think, you know, board members really don't have to be worried about, stepping 

over too many lines. I think, you know, when you're always keeping that organization front and center, 

and you're keeping, you know, those messages, clear and concise and, in line, with, you know, what 

is the position that is going to be most helpful to the organization, I think that's, you know, that's really 

smooth sailing for board members.  

I think the one thing to always just be cautious of is that the board really is an entity that speaks as 

one. So board members who take on the role of advocacy are really, becoming spokespersons for 

really the board as a whole.  

And so if there are different opinions, if there are different ideas, if there are different perspectives, 

those are things that we really don't want to enter into the advocacy role. We want to stay clear and 

on point and on message, when those are being delivered to our legislators. 

So in the example of my board member who is on a regional policy board, he is well informed of our 

issues. He is well informed of our examples that illustrate how these issues impact our organization. 

He comes back, reports back to the board. But he really is really there as a representative of the 

board, speaking on behalf of the board and really sharing our story, sharing our positions, sharing our 

key messages, and keeping clarity about that and it's a, it's a, it's, I think a lot easier, for board 

members when they understand and have that clarity that it is trying to weave in a lot of other types of 

messages. 

 

 

101/102



 

 

 

 

The Rural Health Landscape: Advocacy  

Key Takeaways  

1. Stay well informed about the issues facing the organization, and be prepared to 
discuss examples and desired positions with policymakers 
 

2. Develop relationships with elected officials at the federal and state level to share 
the organization’s impact in the community 
 

3. Take advantage of the education offered by hospital associations to stay on the 
front end of the advocacy agenda 
 

4. Invite legislators for a tour to illustrate how policies could help or harm the 
organization 
 

5. Always keep the organization at the forefront and key messages clear and concise 
in advocacy work 

102/102


	Agenda - October 1 2025 Mtg
	Approval of Meeting Minutes
	Approval of Capital Expenditure Request
	Chief Experience Officer
	Chief Financial Officer
	Chief Nursing Officer
	Human Resources Committee
	F&A 1 of 3 for September 2025
	F&A 2 of 3 for September 2025
	F&A 3 of 3 for September 2025
	Foundation Board Report
	Building and Grounds Committee
	Quality Committee
	Cardiovascular Medicine Privilege Form
	Orientation Memo Template - MOU with Sweetwater County for first read and approval October 2025
	MOU 2025-26 Clean MOU BETWEEN THE BOCC AND MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWCO
	MOU 2025-26 red-lined MOU BETWEEN THE BOCC AND MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWCO
	Veralon The Rural Health Landscape Advocacy
	Veralon Key Takeaways - The Rural Health Landscape Advocacy

